THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BARNWELL COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Martin Harvey, Special Referee

Case No. 2015-CP-06-00070
Appellate Case No. 2016-001214

RECEIVED

AUG 08 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Quicken Loans, Inc.,

Appellant,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Special Referee err in holding that Appellant violated the Attorney Preference Statute?
- II. Did the Special Referee err in holding that the exclusive method for complying with the Attorney Preference Statute is to follow its safe harbor provision?
- III. Did the Special Referee err by not allowing the parties to complete discovery before granting summary judgment?
- IV. Did the Special Referee err in holding that a borrower may recover remedies under S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C) for alleged violations of the Attorney Preference Statute?
- V. Did the Special Referee err in holding that Appellant's alleged violation of the Attorney Preference Statute was unconscionable under S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C) without any proof of unconscionability or the elements required for the same?
- VI. Did the Special Referee err in holding that the Respondent's counterclaim under S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(A) was not time-barred by the three-year statute of limitations?
- VII. Did the Special Referee err in denying Quicken Loans' jury trial demand and Motion to Amend the Pleadings?
- VIII. Did the Special Referee err by relying on confidential information subject to a protective order from an unrelated case to reach his decisions?

INTRODUCTION

This case arises out of a mortgage loan refinance by Appellant Quicken Loans Inc. (“Quicken Loans”)¹ to Calvin and Ezekiel Wilson on December 14, 2011. The refinance reduced the Wilsons’ interest rate by 2.385%, and the Wilsons received over \$14,000.00 in cash. The Wilsons, after the closing, indicated in a survey that they received “outstanding service” from Quicken Loans, and that “[a]ll questions I asked w[ere] answered effectively and very helpful.” The Wilsons paid on the loan for nearly three years without incident or complaint. Mr. Wilson died on September 20, 2013, and Mrs. Wilson died on November 17, 2014. The loan went into default shortly before Mrs. Wilson died.

Quicken Loans instituted this foreclosure action on March 3, 2015, due to the ongoing and undisputed default on the loan. By way of counterclaims, Mrs. Wilson’s estate (the “Estate”), by and through its personal representative Wayne D. Wilson, has attempted to avoid or delay foreclosure and recover damages as a set-off on the indebtedness. Although not a party to the closing, the Estate argues that an Attorney/Insurance Preference Checklist for the transaction—a form signed by Mr. and Mrs. Wilson indicating “I (We) have been informed by lender that I (we) have a right to select legal counsel to represent me (us) in all matters of this transaction relating to the closing of the loan. . . . I/We will not use the services of legal counsel”—did not technically satisfy the South Carolina Attorney Preference Statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102. It argues, and the Special Referee agreed, that this form was not sufficient. The Special Referee went further and held this purported technical violation rendered the transaction unconscionable at the time it was made. Quicken Loans appeals this from the Special Referee’s summary judgment order.

¹ Appellant Quicken Loans Inc. is incorrectly identified in the caption as Quicken Loans, Inc.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Quicken Loans filed this foreclosure action on March 3, 2015, against Ezekiel T. Wilson a/k/a Ezekiel (Ellen) T. Wilson. The Estate, by and through its personal representative Wayne D. Wilson, answered the foreclosure Complaint on May 21, 2015, without pleading any counterclaims or affirmative defenses.

Realizing Mrs. Wilson had died, Quicken Loans filed a First Amended Complaint on May 29, 2015, naming as parties the Estate, Mrs. Wilson's sons Wayne D. Wilson and Calvin O. Wilson, III, and any other heirs or assigns having an interest in the subject property (hereinafter Wayne D. Wilson and Calvin O. Wilson, in their individual capacities, may be referred to as "the Sons"). By consent motion, this case was referred to J. Martin Harvey, Jr., Special Referee for Barnwell County, on August 27, 2015.

On October 22, 2015, the Estate filed a Second Amended Answer and Counterclaims.² The Estate asserted two counterclaims alleging that Quicken Loans violated the Attorney Preference Statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102. Quicken Loans answered the Estate's Second Amended Answer and Counterclaims on November 10, 2015.

Although in default at the time, the Sons filed an Answer and Counterclaims on October 22, 2015, which asserted the same counterclaims as the Estate's Second Amended Answer and Counterclaims. On November 24, 2015, Quicken Loans filed a motion to strike the Sons' pleading on the grounds that it was untimely.

² Although captioned as a Second Amended Answer and Counterclaims, this pleading was actually the first amended pleading that the Estate filed in response to the Amended Complaint. The Estate initially answered the Amended Complaint on June 19, 2015, asserting one counterclaim for an alleged violation of the Attorney Preference Statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102. The Second Amended Answer and Counterclaims asserts two counterclaims based on the same allegations.

On January 19, 2016, the Estate filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on its counterclaims. The Estate's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment asked the Special Referee to determine whether Quicken Loans failed to ascertain the Wilsons' preference for an attorney in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102. In response to the Estate's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Quicken Loans requested time to conduct discovery to establish that it complied with Section 37-10-102 by ascertaining the Wilsons' attorney via a mechanism other than that set forth in the statute's safe harbor provisions.³

On January 25, 2016, Quicken Loans filed a Jury Trial Demand pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and filed a Motion to Transfer this case to the General Docket for an eventual jury trial. In response, the Sons withdrew their responsive pleading and remain in default.

On March 8, 2016, Quicken Loans served a Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment, arguing that the Estate's claims failed as a matter of law because it complied with the safe harbor provision of S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102. Quicken Loans did not seek summary judgment on the grounds that it ascertained the Wilsons' attorney preference through methods other than the safe harbor provision; there are outstanding issues of fact as to this issue on which the Estate moved for summary judgment. Quicken Loans further argued for judgment as a matter of law on the basis the Estate's claims under Section 37-10-105(A) were time barred and that it was not entitled to the relief sought by the Estate.

³ As used in the Order and in this brief, the term "safe harbor" refers to subsections (a)(1)-(2) of Section 37-10-102. See S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102(a)(1)-(2).

Quicken Loans also filed a Motion to Amend the Pleadings on March 8, 2016. Among other things, the Motion to Amend sought leave to assert two breach of contract claims and to demand a jury trial on those claims.

The Special Referee held a hearing on the pending motions on March 18, 2016. In an order dated May 13, 2016, (the "Order"), the Special Referee granted the Estate's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and denied Quicken Loans' Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment. The Special Referee also denied Quicken Loans' Motion to Transfer to the General Docket for a Jury Trial and denied, in part, its Motion to Amend the Pleadings. Quicken Loans filed its Notice of Appeal on June 7, 2016.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On November 4, 2011, Ezekiel Wilson and her husband, Calvin Wilson, spoke over the telephone with a Quicken Loans' representative named Guy Brusca to refinance their existing loan (the "Loan"). (See 11/7/11 Loan App.; R. __.) Mr. Brusca electronically entered information provided by the Wilsons into a loan application, a copy of which was then provided to the Wilsons. (See id.; R. __.) The Wilsons reviewed the completed application and signed it on November 7, 2011. (Id. at p.4.; R. __.) The purpose of the Loan was to pay off several of the Wilsons' existing debts and to provide cash from the equity of their home. (See id. at p.1; R. __.)

Also during this conversation, Mr. Brusca asked the Wilsons if they had a preference for a closing attorney and an insurance agent. (See Attorney/Insurance Preference Checklist; R. __.) The Wilsons expressed a preference as to an insurance agent but had no preference as to a closing attorney. (Id.) Mr. Brusca used the information the Wilsons provided him to electronically prepare an Attorney/Insurance Preference Checklist ("AIP Checklist"). (See id.)

The AIP Checklist was substantially similar to the form issued by the South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs (“SCDCA”).

(Order p. 7.) The Wilsons signed the AIP Checklist confirming their preference of State Farm as their insurance agent and that they did not have a

preference for a closing attorney and did not request the services of legal counsel of their own

selection. (Id.) The Wilsons never amended this information. (See id.)

Carlton Robinson, a licensed South Carolina attorney in good standing, closed the Loan on December 14, 2011. (See Robinson Aff.; R. __.) Mr. Robinson’s practice was to explain all documents to a borrower before closing a loan, including the requirements of the Attorney Preference Statute. (Id. ¶ 6; R. __.) Mr. Robinson would not have proceeded with the closing if the Wilsons had expressed any dissatisfaction with him representing them during the closing or if they preferred another attorney. (Id. ¶ 7; R. __.) Additionally, the Wilsons signed a disclosure form confirming that Mr. Robinson explained the legal effect of the documents at the closing and that he dually represented the Wilsons and Quicken Loans at the closing. (Id. at Ex. A, Real Estate Closing Disclosure Form; R. __.) At the closing, Mr. and Mrs. Wilson signed an updated loan application. (12/14/11 Loan App. at p.4; R. __.) The final page of the updated application

Borrower Name(s): Clyde G. Wilson, Jr. Elizabeth T. Wilson		Lender: Quicken Loans Inc. Cangary No. 29: 303g	
Property Address: 1760 14th St Williston, SC 29863		Date: November 4, 2011	
1. I (We) have been informed by the lender that I (we) have a right to select legal counsel to represent me (us) in all matters of this transaction relating to the closing of the loan.			
(a) I select I/We will not use the services of legal counsel.			
Borrower		Date	
Borrower		Date	
(b) Having been informed of this right, and having no preference, I asked for assistance from the lender and was referred to a list of acceptable attorneys. From that list I select:			
Not Applicable		Not Applicable	
Borrower		Date	
Borrower		Date	
Not Applicable		Not Applicable	
Borrower		Date	
Borrower		Date	

confirmed that State Farm was the Wilsons' preferred insurance agent and that Carlton Robinson was their closing attorney. (Id.)

Under Mr. Robinson's supervision, the Wilsons executed a note in the amount of \$126,000.00 (the "Note") in favor of Quicken Loans secured by a mortgage (the "Mortgage") on certain real property located at 12640 Main Street, Williston, South Carolina (the "Property"). (Note; R. __; Mortgage; R. __.) The Loan included a 3.99% fixed interest rate, which was 2.385% lower than the existing loan that it refinanced. (Compare Note; R. __, with Wells Fargo Payoff Statement; R. __.) The Loan also provided the Wilsons with \$14,178.66 in cash, which accomplished their stated purpose for seeking a refinance loan. (Settlement Statement; R. __; see also 11/7/11 Loan App. R. __.)

The Wilsons paid on the loan for nearly three years without incident or complaint. Shortly before Mrs. Wilson died, the Loan went into default. (Id. at ¶ 13 (alleging Loan is in default and due for 10/1/14).)

ARGUMENT

Summary of Argument

The 2011 refinance transaction benefitted the Wilsons substantially, reducing their interest rate by 2.385% (from 6.375% to 3.99%), and netting them some \$14,000.00 in cash. In their post-closing survey, they expressed their high degree of satisfaction with Quicken Loans' service, and indicated that "[a]ll questions" they had were "answered effectively and very helpful." They paid the loan for nearly three years—it did not go into default even after Mr. Wilson died, but only just prior to Mrs. Wilson's death. Only in response to a foreclosure action due to the undisputed and uncured default on the loan did the issue of attorney preference arise. The attorney preference challenge fails in this case because Quicken Loans complied with the underlying statutes and even

if it technically fell short of full compliance, the remedy sought by Respondents and ordered by the Special Referee exceeds the statutory limits and is disproportionate and unjust.

The Attorney Preference Statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102, requires only that “[t]he creditor must ascertain prior to closing the preference of the borrower as to the legal counsel that is employed to represent the debtor in all matters of the transaction relating to the closing of the transaction” S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102(a). As set forth below, Quicken Loans complied with this statutory command, whether its conduct and the Wilsons’ signed AIP Checklist are construed to fall within the safe harbor provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102(a)(1) or (2), or otherwise satisfy the requirement to ascertain the borrowers’ preference. There was no violation.

Even if the signed AIP Checklist did not technically comply with the Attorney Preference Statute, the Special Referee erred in the remedies he granted. S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102(A) provides for a cause of action for actual damages and a penalty of \$1,500-\$7,500, and there is a corresponding limitations period of three years. There can be no claim here that any alleged violation of the Attorney Preference Statute caused the Wilsons any actual damages—in fact, they significantly benefited from this loan. In the absence of damages, even if the Estate could overcome the expired limitations period, it would otherwise be limited to a relatively small set-off.

To avoid this outcome, the Estate argued that the alleged technical problems with the AIP Checklist rendered this transaction unconscionable at the time it was made, under S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108(1)(a). The Special Referee agreed, a finding that allows the court to impose, *inter alia*, the draconian remedy of “refus[ing] to enforce the agreement.” S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108(1)(b). The finding of unconscionability is completely unwarranted and unjust where the borrowers—Mr. and Mrs. Wilson—benefitted substantially from the loan, expressed their great satisfaction with

the process, and made nearly three years of payments. Moreover, the finding is unwarranted where there is no indication, and no argument whatsoever, as to how compliance with the Attorney Preference Statute, as construed by the Estate and the Special Referee, would have changed anything. There is no basis to conclude that the borrowers suffered any harm whatsoever from the alleged violation of the Attorney Preference Statute. The Special Referee's Order should be reversed, as set forth below.

Standard of Review

Summary judgment should not be granted when a genuine issue of material fact exists. Ellis v. Davidson, 358 S.C. 509, 520, 595 S.E.2d 817, 823 (Ct. App. 2004). In determining whether any triable issues of material fact exist, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493-94, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002); Willis v. Wu, 362 S.C. 146, 151, 607 S.E.2d 63, 65 (2004); Schmidt v. Courtney, 357 S.C. 310, 592 S.E.2d 326 (Ct. App. 2003) ("All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party."). "[I]n cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment." Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 8032 (2009).

- I. **The special referee erred in finding that Quicken Loans violated the attorney preference statute.**
 - A. **Quicken Loans' AIP Checklist sufficiently ascertained the Wilsons' lack of attorney preference prior to closing, in compliance with the safe harbor provisions of S.C. Code Ann § 37-10-102(a)(1) and (2).**

The safe harbor provision provides two, non-exclusive methods for complying with the Attorney Preference Statute. First, the creditor may "include[] the preference information on or

with the credit application” in a form substantially similar to the one issued by the SCDCA. S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102(a)(1). Second, the creditor may comply by “providing written notice to the borrower of the preference information with the notice being delivered or mailed no later than three business days after the application is received or prepared. If a creditor uses a preference notice form substantially similar to the form distributed by the administrator, the form is in compliance with this section.” S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102(a)(2). As argued in its Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment, Quicken Loans’ AIP Checklist satisfied both of the safe harbor provisions’ options.

Specifically, the Wilsons signed the AIP Checklist on November 7, 2011, which was the same day they signed the loan application and over a month before the loan closed. (11/7/11 Loan App.; R. __; AIP Checklist; R. __.) The AIP Checklist was substantially similar to the form distributed by the SCDCA. (Order p. 7; see also SCDCA Attorney/Insurance Preference Form; R. __.) Because this form was provided to the Wilsons (1) with the loan application and (2) within three days of when Quicken Loans received the loan application, Quicken Loans satisfied both options created by the safe harbor provision. See S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102(a)(1)-(2).

Furthermore, the AIP Checklist expressly advised the Wilsons of their right to select an attorney: “I (We) have been informed by the lender that I (we) have a right to select legal counsel to represent me (us) in all matters of this transaction relating to the closing of the loan.” (AIP Checklist; R. __.) After reviewing the AIP Checklist, the Wilsons signed it, thereby ratifying its contents and confirming that they did not have a preference for a closing attorney. The form was signed over a month prior to closing. Moreover, there was no evidence before the Special Referee showing that the Wilsons would have preferred to use a different closing attorney or did not have any chances prior to the closing to express a preference. (See 12/14/11 Loan App. at p.4; R. __.)

There was also no evidence that Quicken Loans prevented the Wilsons from using the attorney of their choice. (See id.; R. ___; see also Robinson Aff. ¶ 7; R. ___; Client Survey; R. ___.) In fact, the closing attorney stated he would not have closed the loan had the borrowers preferred another attorney. (Robinson Aff. ¶ 7; R. ___.)

Despite the undisputed fact that Quicken Loans used a form substantially similar to the one referenced in the statute and timely provided the preference information to the Wilsons, the Special Referee found there was a violation of the statute because Mr. Brusca electronically recorded “Not Applicable” into section 1(b) of the form rather than providing a list of attorneys after the Wilsons told him they had no preference for a closing attorney. (Order p.8) The Special Referee erred in his finding. The Attorney Preference Statute does not require a lender to provide borrowers with a list of references if they do not have an attorney preference. See S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102(a). Nowhere is such a requirement found in the plain language of the statute.

Indeed, United States District Judge Joseph F. Anderson rejected this very argument in Greene v. Household Fin. Corp., No. 3:02-cv-02436, Dkt. No. 28 (D.S.C. Jan. 12, 2004). In Greene, Judge Anderson found that the Attorney Preference Statute is a disclosure measure, not a lawyer referral mechanism, stating that the statute “clearly does not require” the “extra step” of providing the borrower with a list of attorneys even though the form distributed by the SCDCA does. Id. at p. 7. Judge Anderson also rejected the argument that ascertaining the lack of preference is insufficient to satisfy the statute, instead finding that “a plain reading of the statute reveals that the creditor need not require the customer to designate an attorney in order to comply with the attorney-preference provision.” Id.

Likewise, in Davis v. NationsCredit Financial Services Corp., a case relied upon by the Estate and cited in the Order, the South Carolina Supreme Court found that a lender complied with the Attorney Preference Statute by using a form that recorded “N/A” in section 1(b) and “NONE” for their legal counsel in section 1(a) after the borrower stated no preference. See Davis, 326 S.C.

at 84, 484 S.E.2d at 471 (finding no violation).

Specifically, the form attached as an appendix to the Davis plaintiff’s brief appeared, in relevant part, as indicated at

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