THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BARNWELL COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Martin Harvey, Special Referee

Case No. 2015-CP-06-00070
Appellate Case No. 2016-001214

RECEIVED

DEC 08 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Quicken Loans, Inc.,.....

Appellant,

v.

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEPARTMENT ASKS THIS COURT TO MAKE FINDINGS INCONSISTENT WITH *BOONE*.

The Department's brief relies heavily on testimony from *Boone*. As explained below, this inadmissible evidence is not part of the record before this Court, cannot be considered on appeal, and cannot be used to support summary judgment in favor of the Estate. Regardless, however, evidence from *Boone* does not support the Department's position or the Special Referee's Order.

In *Boone*, the plaintiffs argued that Quicken Loans' refinance loan origination process constitutes the unauthorized practice of law ("UPL"). *Boone*, 420 S.C. at 455, 803 S.E.2d at 709. The South Carolina Supreme Court carefully reviewed the same evidence the Department asks this Court to rely upon and found that "licensed South Carolina attorneys were involved at every critical step of these refinancing transactions, as required by our precedents." *Id.* The Court "also f[ou]nd that requiring more attorney involvement would not effectively further our stated goal of protecting the public from the dangers of UPL." *Id.* The Supreme Court appreciated that Quicken Loans consulted with knowledgeable South Carolina attorneys to make sure its practices complied with our laws before expanding its business into this State:

Prior to expanding into the South Carolina market, Quicken Loans engaged South Carolina attorneys—*with expertise in real estate transactions* and knowledgeable of our UPL jurisprudence—to review the Quicken Loans refinance procedure. After reviewing the procedure, the attorneys opined that the procedure would not constitute UPL, as evidenced by the sufficient involvement of a South Carolina lawyer at each critical step.

Id. at 456, 803 S.E.2d at 709 (emphasis added).

The Department asks this Court to ignore the findings in *Boone* and to strike down an origination process that the Supreme Court has already approved. This is improper. Quicken Loans relied on opinions from experienced South Carolina lawyers on how to comply with our State’s laws regarding real estate transactions. *Boone*, 420 S.C. at 456, 803 S.E.2d at 709. South Carolina lawyers then supervised every critical step of the origination and closing process. *Id.* Quicken Loans relied upon these attorneys to do their jobs and the holding in *Boone* shows that Quicken Loans complied with the law in doing so. *Boone*, 420 S.C. at 455, 803 S.E.2d at 709. It is wrong for the Department to adopt the Estate’s unfounded argument that this process equates to a *per se* violation of the Attorney Preference Statute or unconscionability.

If the Court does decide to rely on the *Boone* testimony, it must rule in favor of Quicken Loans and overturn the Special Referee. Looking at this same evidence, the Supreme Court found that Quicken Loans informed each borrower that “he or she has the right to select legal counsel to represent him or her in the transaction and asked whether he or she has a preference as to a specific attorney.” *Boone*, 420 S.C. at 456, 803 S.E.2d at 709 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102). When it denied the plaintiffs’ petition for rehearing, the Supreme Court noted that this statement from *Boone* was not intended to bar “further inquiry *in other litigation* nor amount to a final

determination of compliance.”¹ *Boone v. Quicken Loans, Inc., et al.*, Ap. No. 2013-002288 (Order dated Sept. 13, 2017) (emphasis added). This qualifier, which allows a borrower to present evidence that Quicken Loans failed to apply the process that the Supreme Court blessed in his or her specific transaction, does not apply here. The Department and the Estate’s attorneys are not inquiring about an attorney preference violation based on a new record and evidence from the Wilsons’ transaction. Rather, they are relying on the same evidence from *Boone* that the Supreme Court held was compliant with South Carolina law. This Court cannot rely upon the *Boone* record to rule contrary to the Supreme Court, and the record on appeal in this case does not support the Special Referee’s Order granting summary judgment in favor of Wilson.

II. THE DEPARTMENT RELIES UPON EVIDENCE THAT IS NOT PROPERLY IN THE RECORD FOR THIS CASE.

Summary judgment may only be based on the record created in the case in which it is sought. Rule 56(c), SCRPC (“The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”) Materials offered in support of a motion for summary judgment “must set forth facts which would be admissible in evidence.” Rule 56(e), SCRPC; *see also Montgomery v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 362 S.C. 529, 543, 608 S.E.2d 440, 447 (Ct. App. 2004) (“Our appellate courts have interpreted Rule 56(e) to mean materials used to support or refute a motion for summary judgment must be those which would be admissible in evidence.”).

¹ The Court did so because it makes a case-by-case determination on UPL matters. *See In re Unauthorized Practice of Law Rules Proposed by S.C. Bar*, 309 S.C. 304, 305, 422 S.E.2d 123, 124 (1992).

Additionally, Rule 213 states that an amicus curiae brief “*shall* be limited to argument of the issues on appeal as presented by the parties.” Rule 213, SCACR (emphasis added). An “appellate court will not consider any fact which does not appear in the Record on Appeal.” Rule 210(h), SCACR.

A. EVIDENCE FROM *BOONE* CANNOT SUPPORT SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

As explained in prior briefing, summary judgment should not have been granted because discovery was not complete, and the Estate did not establish a record to support its claims. (Quicken Loans’ Br. Part I.B.2.) The Estate, and now the Department, try to mask this deficiency by relying upon evidence in a record from a different case, involving different issues and different parties with individual factual inquires.

As an initial matter, these materials are subject to a confidentiality order entered in *Boone* and are not publicly available. (Quicken Loans’ Br. Part V.A.) The Estate only has this information because its lawyers gave the materials to it in violation of the confidentiality order. (*See id.*). Indeed, United States District Court Judge Michelle Childs recently held that these exact materials are still subject to the confidentiality order entered in *Boone*. *See e.g., Messex v. Quicken Loans Inc.*, No. 2:15-cv-04773-JMC at Dkt. Nos. 134-35 (Minute Orders entered Dec. 5, 2017). The Estate should not have been allowed to use these materials below, and the Department should not be allowed to use them here to argue for the affirmance of the Special Referee’s Order.

Moreover, South Carolina common law does not allow the use of deposition testimony taken in one proceeding to be offered as evidence in unrelated proceedings between different parties. *Holden v. Cantrell*, 88 S.C. 281, 70 S.E. 815 (1911). Likewise, South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 32, which governs the use of deposition transcripts in hearings and trial, does not provide for the use of deposition testimony in unrelated proceedings. *See* Rule 32, SCRPC. Even

under Federal Rule 32(a)(8), a deposition taken in an earlier action may only be used in a later action if it involves “the same subject matter between the same parties.”

The Estate and the Department were not parties to *Boone*, and Quicken Loans’ witnesses in *Boone* were not designated under Rule 30(b)(6) to testify on attorney preference issues. Therefore, neither party had the opportunity to examine and cross-examine the witnesses on the issues relevant to this case. As such, testimony from *Boone* cannot be used to support the Special Referee’s Order. *See Labelle v. Philip Morris Inc.*, 243 F. Supp. 2d 508, 520 (D.S.C. 2001) (testimony from another case was inadmissible where parties in the case it was offered in did not have opportunity to develop testimony on the relevant issues). Because the Department’s brief relies almost exclusively on evidence from *Boone*, the Court should not consider it.²

B. NEW ISSUES RAISED IN THE DEPARTMENT’S AMICUS BRIEF CANNOT SUPPORT THE SPECIAL REFEREE’S ORDER.

The Department’s brief also relies on information from its own unrelated investigations of *other parties*—information that Quicken Loans has not been able to examine or verify first hand. Such information is not in the record on appeal before this Court and was not before the Special Referee below:

- On page 3, the Department states it has issued “more than one hundred Administrative Interpretations.” These interpretations are not identified in the brief, are not in the record on appeal, and were not briefed by the parties.
- On pages 4-5, the Department discusses evidence that it gathered and considered in other, unrelated cases involving the Attorney Preference Statute. These cases are not identified by the Department, nothing from, or about, these cases is in the record on appeal, and issues pertaining to them were not briefed by the parties.

² The *Boone* evidence is also inadmissible because the Estate did not lay a foundation to establish that the issues in *Boone* are substantially similar to the issues in the instant case. (Quicken Loans’ Br. Part V.B. (citing Rule 404(b), SCRE).)

- On pages 7-8, 13, and 15 the Department discusses Administrative Interpretation 10.102(a)-9301. The parties did not brief any issues concerning A.I. 10.102(a)-9301, and in any event, it is not relevant to this case.
- On page 10, the Department discusses its “experiences” with closings occurring prior to 1996. Nothing pertaining to the Department’s pre-1996 closing “experiences” is in the record on appeal, and these experiences were not briefed by the parties.
- On pages 12-13, the Department speculates about what the Wilsons knew or did not know concerning their loan closing and consumer rights. The Department does not cite to anything in the record on appeal to support these speculations because there is none.
- On page 14, the Department again references evidence from other, unrelated investigations while arguing that Quicken Loans violated the statute. Nothing concerning these investigations is in the record on appeal, and they were not briefed by the parties.
- On pages 16-17, the Department makes generalizations concerning unspecified borrowers and lenders. It also speculates about what Quicken Loans and the Wilsons did and thought during the subject loan’s origination. None of these generalizations or speculations are supported by evidence in the record on appeal.
- On pages 17-20, the Department argues that a statute regulating debt collection activity supports a finding that the loan contract is unconscionable. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108(2). The Estate did not make this argument below, and the Special Referee did not rely upon it in the Order.

The Department’s heavy reliance on information from its ongoing investigations is particularly troublesome. Again, neither Quicken Loans nor the Special Referee had the opportunity to consider or verify this information, which concerns other parties. By interjecting those investigations into this appeal, the Department is improperly seeking an advisory opinion on matters that are reserved for the administrative law court. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 37-6-414(A) (stating that any person aggrieved “by the [Department’s] administrator’s determination *is entitled* to a contested case hearing before the Administrative Law Court” (emphasis added)). The advisory opinion sought by the Department should not, and indeed cannot, be issued by this Court. *See*

O'Shields v. McLeod, 257 S.C. 477, 482, 186 S.E.2d 408, 409 (1972) (“The courts of this State . . . are without authority to issue advisory opinions.”).

Because the Department’s amicus brief is not based on the record in this case, it cannot support the decision below and should not be considered by the Court.

III. THE DEPARTMENT ASKS THIS COURT TO APPLY INCORRECT STANDARDS AND TO IMPOSE OBLIGATIONS ON LENDERS THAT DO NOT EXIST IN THE ATTORNEY PREFERENCE STATUTE.

A. THE DEPARTMENT WRONGLY ASKS THIS COURT TO SHIFT THE BURDEN OF PROOF ONTO QUICKEN LOANS AND TO MAKE CREDIBILITY DETERMINATIONS AT THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT STAGE.

The Department argues that Quicken Loans had the burden of proof to establish compliance with the Attorney Preference Statute. It claims, without support, that “[l]enders who elect to use a method different from that set forth in the Administrative Interpretation 10.102(a)-8302 do not have the privilege of the safe harbor and must undertake the burden of proving compliance with the statute.” (Dept. Br. p.11; *see also id.* p. 14 (arguing Quicken Loans did not meet its burden because it allegedly misused the disclosure form).) The Department makes this assertion despite acknowledging that lenders may comply via methods other than use of the disclosure form. (*Id.* at p.14.) It also urges this Court to make credibility determinations at the summary judgment stage and suggests a methodology for doing so. (*Id.* at p.14 (discussing how the Department weighs the credibility of evidence in its enforcement investigations). These are misstatements of the law and of the standard of review applicable to this appeal.

The Attorney Preference Statute does not place the burden on the lender to prove compliance. S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102; *see also Tatum v. RJR Pension Inv. Comm.*, 761 F.3d. 346, 362 (4th Cir. 2014) (“[W]hen a statute is silent, the default rule provides that the burden of proof rests with the plaintiff.”). The Estate, therefore, had the burden to establish that Quicken

Loans violated the statute in the Wilsons' transaction. *See Thompson v. Bearden*, 200 S.C. 519, 21 S.E.2d 189, 191 (1942) (claimant bears burden of proof in civil action). Further, this Court can only affirm the Order if, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Quicken Loans, there are no issues of material fact. Rule 56(c), SCRCP; *see also Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493–94, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). The Department ignored all of the evidence presented by Quicken Loans that, at the least, established genuine issues of material fact preventing summary judgment.

Quicken Loans' representative Guy Brusca asked the Wilsons' who their preferred attorney was during their initial telephone interview on November 7, 2011. (Order p.2; R. 2; AIP Checklist; R. 346.) When the Wilsons said they had no preference, Mr. Brusca electronically recorded that information on the AIP Checklist, which the Wilsons reviewed and signed. (AIP Checklist; R. 346.) The Department argues the form did not satisfy the statute's safe harbor provisions because Mr. Brusca recorded this information on the form. It ignores the fact that the language Mr. Brusca recorded was based on information provided by the Wilsons. (*Id.*) Rather, the Department contends this evidence is not credible because it was not in the Wilsons' handwriting. At the summary judgment stage, a court cannot make credibility determinations. *True v. Monteith*, 327 S.C. 116, 120, 489 S.E.2d 615, 617 (1997) (“[M]atters of credibility should not be determined at the summary judgment stage.”). Because the AIP Checklist creates an issue of material fact as to whether there was a violation, the Special Referee erred in granting summary judgment.

In addition to the disclosure form, the Wilsons signed a loan application on November 7, 2011. (11/7/11 Loan App.; R. 341.) This loan application contained a section for the Wilsons' to list their preferred attorney. (*Id.* at p.4, R. 344.) The Wilsons left this section blank, expressing again no preference. (*Id.*) While the Wilsons could have updated their loan application or the AIP Checklist at any time, they did not.

The Department also ignores the fact that discovery was not complete. The Estate filed its motion for partial summary judgment less than three months after it finalized its counterclaims and before any depositions were taken. In response, Quicken Loans' counsel filed an affidavit under Rule 56(f) identifying the specific discovery needed to fully and properly oppose the Estate's motion. This discovery included (1) the deposition Calvin O. Wilson, III, who witnessed the loan closing; (2) the deposition of Carlton Robinson, the closing attorney; and (3) the opportunity to present testimony from a Quicken Loans representative. (Barnwell Aff. ¶¶ 3-4; R. 474.) Because Mr. and Mrs. Wilson are both deceased, the deposition of these witnesses is vital to discovering facts relevant to whether Quicken Loans ascertained the Wilsons' preference for an attorney prior to closing. (*See id.*)

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